

---

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

OF

THE CATHEDRAL QUARTER COMPANY LTD

---

(Adopted by special resolution on 22<sup>nd</sup> May 2023)

**THE COMPANIES ACT 2006**  
**PRIVATE COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE**  
**ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION**  
**OF**  
**The CATHEDRAL QUARTER COMPANY LIMITED**  
**(Company Registration No. 06057365)**

**INTRODUCTION**

**1. INTERPRETATION**

1.1 In these Articles, unless the context otherwise requires:

<b>"Act"</b>	means the Companies Act 2006;
<b>"Articles"</b>	means the Company's articles of association for the time being in force;
<b>"bankruptcy"</b>	includes insolvency proceedings in a jurisdiction other than England and Wales or Northern Ireland which have an effect similar to that of bankruptcy;
<b>"BID"</b>	means a Business Improvement District as set out in the Regulations;
<b>"BID Area"</b>	means the area within which the Company operates the BID as defined in the BID Proposal;
<b>"BID Levy"</b>	means the charge to be levied and collected against the BID Levy Payers operating within the BID Area as determined by the BID Proposal;
<b>"BID Levy Payers"</b>	means the non-domestic ratepayers who are liable to pay the BID Levy and who are eligible to apply for Membership of the Company;
<b>"BID Managing Agent"</b>	means the Managing Agent appointed by the Board from time to time;

<b>"BID Proposal"</b>	means the BID Proposal voted for by the BID Levy Payers which sets out the BID Arrangements (including the prospectus prepared in respect of the BID);
<b>"Board"</b>	means the directors of the Company acting collectively;
<b>"Business Day"</b>	means any day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in England) when banks in London are open for business;
<b>"Clear Days"</b>	in relation to the period of a notice, means the period excluding the day when the notice is given or deemed to be given, and the day for which it is given on which it is to take effect;
<b>"Conflict"</b>	means a situation in which a director has or can have, a direct or indirect interest that conflicts or possibly may conflict, with the interests of the Company;
<b>"director"</b>	means a director of the Company and includes any person occupying the position of director, by whatever name called;
<b>"document"</b>	includes, unless otherwise specified, any document sent or supplied in electronic form;
<b>"electronic form"</b>	has the meaning given in section 1168 of the Act;
<b>"Eligible Director"</b>	means a director who would be entitled to vote on the matter at a meeting of directors (but excluding in relation to the authorisation of a Conflict pursuant to article 22, any director whose vote is not to be counted in respect of the particular matter);
<b>"Interested Director"</b>	has the meaning given in article 22.2;
<b>"Local Authority Representative"</b>	means a salaried employee of Derby City Council who is not a Public Sector Representative;
<b>"Member"</b>	means any natural person, corporate body, partnership, Strategic Agency, Local Authority or unincorporated association whose name is entered in the Register of Members of the Company, and for the avoidance of doubt is either a BID Levy Payer, a Voluntary Member or a Public Sector Member and <b>"Membership"</b> shall be construed accordingly;
<b>"Objects"</b>	means the objects for which the Company is established;

<b>"Office"</b>	means the registered office of the Company;
<b>"ordinary resolution"</b>	has the meaning given in section 282 of the Act;
<b>"Public Sector Representative"</b>	means a representative of Public Sector to include Police, NHS, Fire Service and any other civil servant (but not a Local Authority Representative) who may be admitted to Membership under article 6 hereof);
<b>"Regulations"</b>	means the Business Improvements Districts (England) Regulations 2004 (as amended from time to time);
<b>"Secretary"</b>	means any person appointed to perform the duties of the Secretary of the Company from time to time;
<b>"special resolution"</b>	has the meaning given in section 283 of the Act;
<b>"Voluntary Members"</b>	means persons who are not BID Levy Payers but who agree to make voluntary contributions to the Company for the purposes of securing or procuring the objectives of the BID Proposals and the Company;
<b>"Voluntary Membership Agreement"</b>	means an Agreement to be entered into between a person applying to be a Voluntary Member and the Company which sets out the basis of Membership of the Company and the terms of any annual subscription payable;
<b>"writing"</b>	means the representation or reproduction of words, symbols or other information in a visible form by any method or combination of methods, whether sent or supplied in electronic form or otherwise.

1.2 Headings in these Articles are used for convenience only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of these Articles.

1.3 A reference in these Articles to an **article** is a reference to the relevant article of these Articles unless expressly provided otherwise.

1.4 Unless expressly provided otherwise, a reference to a statute or statutory provision shall include any subordinate legislation from time to time made under that statute or statutory provision.

1.5 Any word following the terms **including, include, in particular, for example** or any similar expression shall be construed as illustrative and shall not limit the sense of the words preceding those terms.

1.6 Expressions referring to writing shall, unless the contrary intention appears, be construed as including references to printing, lithography, photography, and other modes of representing or reproducing words in a visible form.

## **2. OBJECTS**

2.1 The objects for which the Company is established are:

- (a) to enable local business in the Cathedral Quarter Business Improvement District in Derby city centre to associate together in supporting and funding projects which address specific requirements in the Cathedral Quarter Business Improvement District area and its' environs with the object of advancing and improving the commercial environment of Cathedral Quarter and Derby's city centre;
- (b) to do all such other things as are consistent with the above as the directors, in their absolute discretion, determine from time to time;
- (c) to run the BID in accordance with the provisions hereof and the BID Proposal.

## **3. GUARANTEE**

3.1 The liability of each Member is limited to £10.00, being the amount that each Member undertakes to contribute to the assets of the Company in the event of its being wound up while they are a Member or within one year after they cease to be a Member, for:

- (a) payment of the Company's debts and liabilities contracted before ceasing to be a Member;
- (b) payment of the costs, charges and expenses of the winding up; and
- (c) adjustment of the rights of the contributors among themselves.

## **4. INCOME**

4.1 The income and property of the Company from wherever derived shall be applied solely in promoting the Company's objects.

4.2 No distribution shall be paid or capital otherwise returned to the Members in cash or otherwise. Nothing in these Articles shall prevent any payment in good faith by the Company of:

- (a) reasonable and proper remuneration to any Member, director, officer or servant of the Company for any services rendered to the Company;
- (b) any interest on money lent by any Member or any director at a reasonable and proper rate;
- (c) reasonable and proper rent for premises demised or let by any Member or director; or
- (d) reasonable out-of-pocket expenses properly incurred by any director.

4.3 Notwithstanding any other provision of these Articles while the BID is in existence then the income shall, in any event be dealt with in accordance with the provisions of the Regulations.

## **5. WINDING UP**

5.1 On the winding-up or dissolution of the Company, after provision has been made for all its debts and liabilities, any assets or property that remains available to be distributed or paid, shall not be paid or distributed to the Members (except to a Member that qualifies under this article 5) but shall be transferred to another body (charitable or otherwise) with objects similar to those of the Company. Such body to be determined by resolution of the Members at or before the time of winding up or dissolution and, subject to any such resolution of the Members, may be made by resolution of the directors at or before the time of winding up or dissolution.

5.2 If the BID comes to an end then the Company may continue as the directors may determine following an Extraordinary Meeting of the Members but:

- (a) any monies received via the BID Levy shall be dealt with in accordance with the Regulations (where applicable); and
- (b) any monies received by the Company other than those referred to in article 5.2(a) shall be dealt with at the discretion of the Board and in so far as possible in accordance with the Objects (notwithstanding the termination or expiry of the BID),

and the Company will continue in accordance with the Objects other than article 2.1(c) for so long as the Board deem it reasonable so to do having due regard to the wishes of the Members.

## **MEMBERS: BECOMING AND CEASING TO BE A MEMBER**

### **6. MEMBERSHIP**

6.1 The Company shall admit to Membership an individual or organisation which:

- (a) applies to the Company using the application process approved by the directors; and
- (b) is approved by the directors.

6.2 A letter shall be sent to each successful applicant confirming their Membership of the Company and the details of each successful applicant shall be entered into the Register of Members.

6.3 The directors may only refuse an application for Membership if, acting reasonably and properly, they consider it to be in the best interests of the Company to refuse the application. The directors must inform the applicant in writing of the reasons for the refusal within twenty-one days of the decision. The directors must consider any written representations the applicant may make about the decision.

The directors' decision following any written representations must be notified to the applicant in writing but shall be final.

- 6.4 Any corporate body, partnership, Strategic Agency, Local Authority or unincorporated association admitted as a Member of the Company shall nominate one individual to act as a representative of such body in respect of the Company from time to time and shall exercise all rights as a Member provided that where such a body acts through a representative the body shall first deposit a letter of appointment of authority with the Company before such representatives or any replacement representative shall have authority to act in respect of the Company.
- 6.5 Membership is not transferable unless expressly authorised by the Board.
- 6.6 There is no limit to the number of Members.
- 6.7 A Voluntary Member shall have no right to vote and may not be appointed as director.

## **7. TERMINATION OF MEMBERSHIP**

7.1 Membership is terminated if:

- (a) the Member dies, or if it is an organisation, ceases to exist;
- (b) the Member is no longer based in the BID Area;
- (c) the Member resigns by written notice to the Company unless, after the resignation, there would be less than two Members;
- (d) any sum due from the Member to the Company is not paid in full within six months of it falling due; or
- (e) the Board, who shall have good and sufficient reason to terminate the Membership of any Member (including for the avoidance of doubt a BID Member), remove a Member as a Member of the Company by the passing of a resolution by those Members entitled to vote at a general meeting, provided always that the Member concerned shall have had a right to be heard before a final decision is made.

Following such termination, the Member shall be removed from the Register of Members.

- 7.2 Where a Member resigns or is removed no refund on any monies paid (whether through the BID Levy, under a Voluntary Members' Agreement or otherwise) shall be refundable to the Member.

## **DECISION MAKING BY MEMBERS**

### **8. GENERAL MEETING**

- 8.1 The Company shall each year hold an Annual General Meeting ("**AGM**") in addition to any other meetings in that year, and shall specify the meeting as such in the notices calling it; and not more than fifteen months shall elapse between the date of one AGM of the Company and that of the next provided that so long as the Company holds its first annual general meeting within eighteen months of its incorporation, it need not hold it in the year of its incorporation or in the following year.
- 8.2 The AGM shall be held at such time and place as the Board shall appoint. All other general meetings other than annual meetings shall be called extraordinary general meetings.
- 8.3 The Board may whenever it thinks fit convene an extraordinary general meeting, and extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened if requisitioned by Members as provided by the Act.

### **9. NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS**

- 9.1 The minimum periods of notice required to hold a general meeting of the Company are:
- (a) twenty-one clear days for an AGM and an extraordinary general meeting called for the passing of a special resolution; and
  - (b) fourteen clear days for all other extraordinary meetings.
- 9.2 A general meeting may be called by shorter notice if it is so agreed by a majority of the Members having a right to attend and vote at the meeting, being a majority together representing not less than ninety-five per cent of the total voting rights at that meeting of all the Members.
- 9.3 The notice must specify the date, time and place of the meeting and the general nature of the business to be transacted. If the meeting is to be an annual general meeting, the notice must say so.
- 9.4 The notice must be given to all the Members and to the directors and auditors.

### **10. PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS**

- 10.1 The business to be transacted at an annual general meeting shall include the consideration of the accounts, balance sheets, and the reports of the Board and auditors, the confirmation of the election of directors and the appointment of, and the fixing of the remuneration of, the auditors.
- 10.2 No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present. A quorum is five Members entitled to vote upon the business to be conducted at the meeting.



- 10.3 If a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting, or during a meeting a quorum ceases to be present, the meeting shall be adjourned to such time and place as the directors shall determine.
- 10.4 The directors must reconvene the meeting and must give at least seven clear days' notice of the reconvened meeting stating the date, time and place of the meeting.
- 10.5 If no quorum is present at the reconvened meeting within fifteen minutes of the time specified for the start of the meeting the Members present at that time shall constitute the quorum for that meeting.

## **11. CHAIR**

- 11.1 General meetings shall be chaired by the person who has been appointed to chair meetings of the directors. If the Chair (as defined below) not present within fifteen minutes of the time appointed for the meeting a director nominated by the directors shall chair the meeting. If there is only one director present and willing to act, that individual shall chair the meeting. If no director is present and willing to chair the meeting within fifteen minutes after the time appointed for holding it, the Members present and entitled to vote must choose one of their number to chair the meeting.
- 11.2 The person chairing a meeting in accordance with this article is referred to as "**the Chair**".
- 11.3 The Chair may, with the consent of any general meeting at which a quorum is present (and shall if so directed by the Members present at a meeting resolving to do so by ordinary resolution) adjourn the meeting. The Chair must decide the date time and place at which such meeting is to be reconvened unless those details are specified in the resolution. No business shall be conducted at a reconvened meeting unless it could properly have been conducted at the meeting had the adjournment not taken place.
- 11.4 If a meeting is adjourned for more than fourteen days, at least seven clear days' notice shall be given of the reconvened meeting stating the date time and place of the meeting.

## **12. RESOLUTIONS**

- 12.1 Subject to the Act, at any general meeting any vote shall be decided by a show of hands unless before, or on the declaration of the result of, the show of hands a poll is demanded:
- (a) by the Chair;
  - (b) by at least two Members having the right to vote at the meeting; or
  - (c) by a Member or Members representing not less than one-tenth of the total voting rights of all the Members having the right to vote at the meeting.
- 12.2 The declaration by the Chair of the result of a vote shall be conclusive unless a poll is demanded.

- 12.3 The result of the vote must be recorded in the minutes of the Company but the number or proportion of votes cast need not be recorded.
- 12.4 A demand for a poll may be withdrawn, before the poll is taken, but only with the consent of the Chair. The withdrawal of the demand for a poll shall not invalidate the result of a show of hands declared before the demand was made.
- 12.5 A poll demanded on the election of a person to chair a meeting or on a question of adjournment must be taken immediately. A poll demanded on any question must be taken either immediately or at such time and place as the Chair directs but must be taken within thirty days after it has been demanded and at least seven Clear Days' notice shall be given specifying the date time and place at which the poll is to be taken.
- 12.6 The result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll is demanded.
- 12.7 If a poll is demanded the meeting may continue to deal with any other business that may be conducted at the meeting.
- 12.8 If there is an equality of votes, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the Chair shall have a casting vote in addition to any other vote they may have.
- 12.9 A resolution in writing signed by each Member (or in the case of a Member that is an organisation, by its authorised representative) who would have been entitled to vote upon it had it been proposed at a general meeting shall be effective. It may comprise several copies each signed by or on behalf of one or more Members.

### **13. VOTES OF MEMBERS**

- 13.1 Subject to articles 6.4, 7.1, 12.8 and 13.2 every Member (other than a Voluntary Member who shall have no right to vote) shall have one vote.
- 13.2 No Member shall be entitled to vote at any general meeting or at any adjourned meeting if they or the Member they represent owes any money to the Company.
- 13.3 The Board may make arrangements for postal or electronic voting on such terms and conditions as it sees fit.
- 13.4 No objection may be raised to the qualification of any person voting at a general meeting except at the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is tendered, and every vote not disallowed at the meeting shall be valid. Any objection made in due time must be referred to the Chair whose decision shall be final and conclusive.

- 13.5 Any Member of the Company that is not a natural person may nominate one person to act as its representative at any meeting of the Company ("**the Nominee**"). The organisation must give written notice to the Company of the name of the Nominee. The Nominee shall not be entitled to represent the organisation at any meeting unless the notice has been received by the Company. The Nominee may continue to represent the organisation until written notice to the contrary is received by the Company. Any notice given to the Company will be conclusive evidence that the Nominee is entitled to represent the organisation or that their authority has been revoked. The Company shall not be required to consider whether the Nominee has been properly appointed by the Member.
- 13.6 A vote given or poll demanded by the Nominee of a Member shall be valid provided that the Nominee was nominated to act as the representative of the Member in accordance with article 13.5.

## **DIRECTORS**

### **14. BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

- 14.1 Unless otherwise determined by the Board from time to time, the number of directors shall be no less than five but shall not be subject to any maximum.
- 14.2 The Board must approve all new directors' appointments.
- 14.3 The Board shall ordinarily but need not necessarily comprise the following:
- (a) up to 12 individual representative of BID Members who should, as a group, be as representative as possible in terms of business size and type and geography of the BID and who shall at any time represent more than one half of the Board but for the avoidance of doubt shall not include Voluntary Members;
  - (b) up to 2 individual elected representatives of the Derby City Council ("**Local Authority Directors**") being the leader thereof or such other councillor from the political party leading the council and one appropriate councillor from the second main party of the council, who may be approved by the Board and appointed at an AGM and shall at no time represent more than one third of the Board; and
  - (c) up to 2 such individuals who, in the view of the Board, have particular skills or experience which will assist the Company to promote its Objects (the "**Independent Directors**") and who shall at no time represent more than one third of the Board,
- save that the board may, from time to time, vary such numbers as are detailed in articles 14.3(a) to 14.3(c) (inclusive) as it in its sole discretion deems appropriate provided always that a Voluntary Member may not be appointed as a director.
- 14.4 Representatives of the BID Managing Agent as the Board may from time to time deem appropriate may also attend Board meetings (but shall not have a vote).

14.5 The Board shall be entitled to invite any organisation or body to send a non-voting representative to attend and speak at meetings of the Board.

14.6 The maximum number of non-voting representatives permitted to attend meetings of the Board at any one time shall be at the discretion of the Chairperson of the Board.

## **15. POWERS AND DUTIES OF DIRECTORS**

15.1 Subject to the articles, the directors are responsible for the management of the Company's business, for which purpose they may exercise all the powers of the Company.

15.2 The Members may, by special resolution, direct the directors to take, or refrain from taking, specified action. No such special resolution invalidates anything which the directors have done before the passing of the resolution.

15.3 All cheques and other negotiable instruments, and all receipts for moneys paid to the Company, shall be signed or otherwise executed, as the case may be, in such manner as the Board shall from time to time determine (but during the time that the BID shall exist in accordance with the Regulations).

15.4 The Board shall arrange for minutes to be made:

- (a) of all appointments of officers made by the Board;
- (b) of the names of the directors present at each Board meeting; and
- (c) of all resolutions and proceedings at all meetings of the Company.

15.5 The directors may delegate any of their powers to any committee consisting of one or more directors. They may also delegate to any managing director or any director holding any other executive office such of their powers as they consider desirable to be exercised by them. Any such delegation may be made subject to any conditions the directors may impose, and either collaterally with or to the exclusion of their own powers and may be revoked or altered. Subject to any such conditions, the proceedings of a committee with two or more Members shall be governed by the articles regulating the proceedings of directors so far as they are capable of applying.

## **16. ELECTION AND RETIREMENT OF DIRECTORS**

16.1 The process for nominating new directors and re-electing existing directors who are retiring at an annual general meeting is set out in Appendix A to these Articles save for the Local Authority Director who shall be nominated and/or re-elected in accordance with article 16.6.

16.2 At each annual general meeting the Board shall confirm the names of the directors who have been elected or in the case of the Local Authority Director nominated to serve for the following year in accordance with these Articles.

- 16.3 The directors shall have power at any time to appoint any person to be a director, either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing directors but so that the total number of directors shall not at any time exceed any maximum number fixed in accordance with these Articles. Any director so appointed shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting, and shall then be eligible for re-election in accordance with the process set out in Appendix A. Where a casual vacancy arises, directors shall use their reasonable endeavours to appoint a co-optee representative of the same group as the director who has resigned or has been otherwise removed but otherwise shall co-opt an individual with relevant experience or expertise generally.
- 16.4 A director must be a natural person aged 18 years or older.
- 16.5 No one may be appointed a director if they would be disqualified from acting under the provisions of article 17.1.
- 16.6 The Local Authority Director shall be an elected member proposed by the relevant local authority and approved by the Board to serve for such period of office as shall be confirmed by such local authority. Written confirmation shall be delivered by the local authority to the Board confirming the local authority's nominee and for what period of time. Such nominees shall always be elected members and the appointment of such nominee shall be subject to formal approval of the directors. The local authority may remove and replace the Local Authority Director at any time provided written notice is given to the Board and provided that the appointment of any new nominee for the local authority shall be subject to the consent of the directors.

## **17. TERMINATION OF DIRECTORS**

- 17.1 A person ceases to be a director as soon as:
- (a) they cease to be a director by virtue of any provision in the Act or is prohibited from being a director by law;
  - (b) a bankruptcy order is made against them;
  - (c) a composition is made with their creditors generally in satisfaction of that person's debts;
  - (d) written opinion to the Company stating that they have become physically or mentally incapable of acting as a director and may remain so for more than three months;
  - (e) they resign from office by written notice to the Company;
  - (f) a court makes an order which wholly or partly prevents them from personally exercising any powers or rights which that would otherwise have, by reason of their mental health;
  - (g) the organisation which the director represents moves out of the BID Area and the Board resolves that the director concerned should retire provided that the individual concerned

may become a Voluntary Member (but not for the avoidance of doubt a director), if they so choose;

- (h) they are absent without the agreement of the Board from all their meetings held within a period of six months or more than 50% of meetings over a 12-month period and the Board resolves that that person's office be vacated; or
- (i) they are removed from office by a three-quarters majority vote of the directors at a special meeting called for that purpose, when in the opinion of the Board and having given the director concerned an opportunity to make representations to the Board, it appears that the director in question is acting in a manner detrimental or prejudicial to the wellbeing of the Company.

## **18. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS**

18.1 The directors shall not be entitled to remuneration for acting as a director but may receive payment for services provided to the Company in accordance with article 4.2(a) and article 22.1.

## **19. DIRECTORS' EXPENSES**

19.1 A director is entitled to be reimbursed from the Company for reasonable out of pocket expenses properly incurred by them in connection with the discharge of their duties as director when acting on behalf of the Company but not in relation to attendance at internal meetings of the Company of any type or at any AGM or EGM of the Company.

## **20. PROCEEDINGS OF THE BOARD**

20.1 Subject to the Articles, the Board may regulate its proceedings as it sees fit.

20.2 The Board shall meet a minimum of 4 times in each calendar year.

20.3 Any two directors may on not less than 14 days written notice call a directors' meeting of the directors by giving notice of the meeting to the directors.

20.4 Notice of any directors' meeting must indicate:

- (a) its' proposed date and time;
- (b) where it is to take place; and
- (c) if it is anticipated that directors participating in the meeting will not be in the same place, how it is proposed that they should communicate with each other during the meeting.
- (d) the item(s) for discussion at the meeting.

20.5 Notice of a directors' meeting must be given to each director but need not be in writing.

- 20.6 A director who is absent from the UK and who has no registered address in the UK shall not be entitled to notice of the directors' meeting.
- 20.7 The quorum for the transaction of the business of the Board may be fixed by the directors and unless so fixed at any other number shall be three or the number nearest to one third of the total number of directors whichever is the greater.
- 20.8 Subject to the articles, directors participate in a directors' meeting, or part of a directors' meeting, when:
- (a) the meeting has been called and takes place in accordance with the articles; and
  - (b) they can each communicate (including virtually) to the others any information or opinions they have on any particular item of the business of the meeting.
- 20.9 In determining whether directors are participating in a directors' meeting, it is irrelevant where any director is or how they communicate with each other and if all the directors participating in a meeting are not in the same place, they may decide that the meeting is to be treated as taking place wherever any of them is. Directors' meetings may for the avoidance of doubt be conducted virtually.
- 20.10 A director shall not be counted in the quorum present when any decision is made about a matter upon which that director is not entitled to vote.
- 20.11 A director is not entitled to appoint an alternate director or anyone to act on their behalf at directors' meetings (by proxy or otherwise).
- 20.12 If a question arises at a meeting of directors or of a committee of directors as to the right of a director to vote, the question may, before the conclusion of the meeting, be referred to the Chairperson of the meeting and the Chairperson's ruling in relation any director other than themselves shall be final and conclusive.
- 20.13 The directors shall appoint a director to chair their meetings for the period between one annual general meeting and the subsequent annual general meeting ("**the Chairperson**") and may at any time revoke such appointment. If that person appointed is unwilling to preside or is not present within fifteen minutes after the time appointed for the meeting, the directors present may appoint one of their number to chair that meeting.
- 20.14 The person appointed to chair meetings of the directors shall have no functions or powers except those conferred by these articles or delegated to them by the directors.
- 20.15 All acts done by the Board, or by a committee of the Board, shall, notwithstanding that it be afterwards discovered that there was a defect in the appointment of any director or that any of them were disqualified from holding office, or has vacated office, or were not entitled to vote, be as valid

as if every such person has been duly appointed and was qualified and had continued to be a director and had been entitled to vote.

- 20.16 A resolution in writing, signed by all the directors, entitled to receive notice of a meeting of the Board, shall be as valid and effective as if it had been passed at a meeting of the Board or (as the case may be) a committee of the Board duly convened and held. Such a resolution may consist of several documents in the same form, each signed by one or more of the directors. Subject to such a meeting being practical, any director may validly participate in a meeting of the Directors through the medium of telephone or video conference or any other form of electronic communication equipment provided that all persons participating in the meeting are able to hear and speak to each other throughout such meeting and provided that the majority of directors are content to participate in a meeting in that manner. A person so participating shall be deemed present at the meeting and shall accordingly be counted in a quorum and be entitled to vote. A resolution passed at any meeting held in such manner and signed by the chair of the meeting shall be valid and effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of the directors duly convened and held.
- 20.17 Questions arising at a meeting shall be decided by a majority of votes. Subject to article 20.18, in the case of an equality of votes the Chairperson of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote.
- 20.18 Article 20.15 shall not apply in respect of a particular meeting or part of a meeting if, in accordance with the Articles, the chairman or other director is not an Eligible Director for the purposes of that meeting or part of a meeting.
- 20.19 The directors must ensure that the Company keeps a record in writing for at least 10 years from the date of the decision recorded of every unanimous or majority decision taken by the directors and such records should be stored with the Company's Statutory Books.
- 20.20 Without prejudice to the generality of article 20.1 amongst the functions of the board shall be to:
- (a) define and ensure compliance with the objectives of the Company;
  - (b) establish policies and plans to meet those objectives;
  - (c) approve each year's budget prior to publication;
  - (d) establish and oversee a framework for delegation and control to employees, officer committees and sub-committees (as appropriate);
  - (e) agree policies and make decisions on all matters that create a significant financial risk to the Company;
  - (f) monitor the Company's performance in relation to these plans, budgets, controls and decisions;



- (g) appoint (and if necessary, remove) any Chief Executive and any senior staff; and
- (h) from time to time as they see fit (or if required by the Regulations) arrange meetings to which the Members, which for the avoidance of doubt includes Voluntary Members be invited.

## **21. UNANIMOUS DECISIONS**

- 21.1 A decision of the directors is taken in accordance with this article when all Eligible Directors indicate to each other by any means that they share a common view on a matter.
- 21.2 Such a decision may take the form of a resolution in writing, where each Eligible Director has signed one or more copies of it, or to which each Eligible Director has otherwise indicated agreement in writing.
- 21.3 A decision may not be taken in accordance with this article if the Eligible Directors would not have formed a quorum at such a meeting.

## **22. DIRECTORS' CONFLICTS OF INTEREST**

- 22.1 Directors may undertake any services for the company that the directors decide. Directors are entitled to such remuneration as the directors determine for any other service which they undertake for the company.
- 22.2 The directors may, in accordance with the requirements set out in this article, authorise any Conflict proposed to them by any director which would, if not authorised, involve a director (an "**Interested Director**") breaching their duty to avoid conflicts of interest under section 175 of the Act.
- 22.3 Any authorisation under this article 22 shall be effective only if:
  - (a) the matter in question shall have been proposed by any director for consideration in the same way that any other matter may be proposed to the directors under the provisions of these Articles or in such other manner as the directors may determine;
  - (b) any requirement as to the quorum for consideration of the relevant matter is met without counting the Interested Director; and
  - (c) the matter was agreed to without the Interested Director voting or would have been agreed to if the Interested Director's vote had not been counted.
- 22.4 Any authorisation of a Conflict under this article 22 may (whether at the time of giving the authorisation or subsequently):
  - (a) extend to any actual or potential conflict of interest which may reasonably be expected to arise out of the matter or situation so authorised;

- (b) provide that the Interested Director be excluded from the receipt of documents and information and the participation in discussions (whether at meetings of the directors or otherwise) related to the Conflict;
- (c) provide that the Interested Director shall or shall not be an Eligible Director in respect of any future decision of the directors in relation to any resolution related to the Conflict;
- (d) impose upon the Interested Director such other terms for the purposes of dealing with the Conflict as the directors think fit;
- (e) provide that, where the Interested Director obtains, or has obtained (through their involvement in the Conflict and otherwise than through their position as a director of the Company) information that is confidential to a third party, they shall not be obliged to disclose that information to the Company, or to use it in relation to the Company's affairs where to do so would amount to a breach of that confidence; and
- (f) permit the Interested Director to absent themselves from the discussion of matters relating to the Conflict at any meeting of the directors and be excused from reviewing papers prepared by, or for, the directors to the extent they relate to such matters.

22.5 Where the directors authorise a Conflict, the Interested Director shall be obliged to conduct themselves in accordance with any terms and conditions imposed by the directors in relation to the Conflict.

22.6 The directors may revoke or vary such authorisation at any time, but this shall not affect anything done by the Interested Director prior to such revocation or variation in accordance with the terms of such authorisation.

22.7 A director is not required, by reason of being a director (or because of the fiduciary relationship established by reason of being a director), to account to the Company for any remuneration, profit or other benefit which they derive from or in connection with a relationship involving a Conflict which has been authorised by the directors in accordance with these Articles or by the Company in general meeting (subject in each case to any terms, limits or conditions attaching to that authorisation) and no contract shall be liable to be avoided on such grounds.

22.8 Subject to sections 177(5) and 177(6) and sections 182(5) and 182(6) of the Act, and provided they have declared the nature and extent of their interest in accordance with the requirements of the Act, a director who is in any way, whether directly or indirectly, interested in an existing or proposed transaction or arrangement with the Company:

- (a) may be a party to, or otherwise interested in, any transaction or arrangement with the Company or in which the Company is otherwise (directly or indirectly) interested;

- (b) shall be an Eligible Director for the purposes of any proposed decision of the directors (or committee of directors) in respect of such existing or proposed transaction or arrangement in which they are interested;
- (c) shall be entitled to vote at a meeting of directors (or of a committee of the directors) or participate in any unanimous decision, in respect of such existing or proposed transaction or arrangement in which they are interested;
- (d) may act in person or by their firm in a professional capacity for the Company (otherwise than as auditor) and they or their firm shall be entitled to remuneration for professional services as if they were not a director;
- (e) may be a director or other officer of, or employed by, or a party to a transaction or arrangement with, or otherwise interested in, any motives
- (f) body corporate in which the Company is otherwise (directly or indirectly) interested; and
- (g) shall not, save as they may otherwise agree, be accountable to the Company for any benefit which they (or a person connected with them (as defined in section 252 of the Act)) derives from any such transaction or arrangement or from any such office or employment or from any interest in any such body corporate and no such transaction or arrangement shall be liable to be avoided on the grounds of any such interest or benefit nor shall the receipt of any such remuneration or other benefit constitute a breach of their duty under section 176 of the Act.

### **23. RECORDS OF DECISIONS TO BE KEPT**

- 23.1 Where decisions of the directors are taken by electronic means, such decisions shall be recorded by the directors in permanent form, so that they may be read with the naked eye.

### **24. SECRETARY**

- 24.1 The directors may from time to time appoint any person who is willing to act as the secretary for such term, upon such conditions as they may think fit provided that if a director is appointed they shall not be paid and from time to time remove such person and, if the directors so decide, appoint a replacement, in each case by a decision of the directors.

### **25. CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME**

- 25.1 The name of the Company may be changed by:

- (a) a decision of the directors; or
- (b) a special resolution of the Members,

or otherwise in accordance with the Act.

## **26. MEANS OF COMMUNICATION TO BE USED**

26.1 Any notice, document or other information shall be deemed served on or delivered to the intended recipient:

- (a) if properly addressed and sent by prepaid United Kingdom first class post to an address in the United Kingdom, 48 hours after it was posted (or five Business Days after posting either to an address outside the United Kingdom or from outside the United Kingdom to an address within the United Kingdom, if (in each case) sent by reputable international overnight courier addressed to the intended recipient, provided that delivery in at least five Business Days was guaranteed at the time of sending and the sending party receives a confirmation of delivery from the courier service provider);
- (b) if properly addressed and delivered by hand, when it was given or left at the appropriate address;
- (c) if properly addressed and sent or supplied by electronic means, at the expiration of 48 hours after the document or information was sent or supplied; and
- (d) if sent or supplied by means of a website, when the material is first made available on the website or (if later) when the recipient receives (or is deemed to have received) notice of the fact that the material is available on the website.

For the purposes of this article, no account shall be taken of any part of a day that is not a Business Day.

26.2 In proving that any notice, document or other information was properly addressed, it shall suffice to show that the notice, document or other information was addressed to an address permitted for the purpose by the Act.

26.3 Proof that a notice contained in an electronic communication was sent in accordance with guidance issued by the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators shall be conclusive evidence that the notice was given.

26.4 A notice shall be deemed to be given:

- (a) 48 hours after the envelope containing it was posted; or
- (b) in the case of an electronic communication, 48 hours after it was sent.

26.5 The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to, or the non-receipt of notice of a meeting by, any person entitled to receive notice shall not invalidate the proceedings of that meeting.

## **27. RULES**

- 27.1 The directors may establish reasonable rules or bye laws governing matters relating to Company administration as they may deem necessary or expedient for the proper conduct and management of the Company.
- 27.2 Such rules or bye laws may regulate the following matters but are not restricted to them:
- (a) the admission and classification of Members of the Company (including the admission of organisations to membership) and the rights and privileges of such Members, entrance fees, subscriptions and other fees or payments to be made by the Members;
  - (b) the conduct of Members of the Company in relation to one another and to the Company's employees, volunteers or other associated parties;
  - (c) the setting aside of the whole or any part or parts of the Company's premises at any particular time or times or for any particular purpose or purposes;
  - (d) the procedure at general meetings and meetings of the directors and committees of the directors in so far as such procedure is not regulated by the Articles; or
  - (e) generally, all such matters as are commonly the subject matter of Company rules.
- 27.3 The Company in general meeting shall have the power to alter, add to or repeal the rules or bye laws and the directors must adopt such means as they think sufficient to bring the rules and bye laws to the notice of Members of the Company.
- 27.4 The rules or bye laws shall be binding on all Members of the Company.
- 27.5 If there is a conflict between the terms of these Articles and any rules established under this Article, the terms of these Articles shall prevail.

## **28. INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE**

- 28.1 The Company shall indemnify every director or other officer or auditor of the Company against any liability incurred by them in that capacity in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is given in favour of the director or in which the director is acquitted or in connection with any application in which relief is granted to the director by the court from liability for negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust in relation to the affairs of the Company.

## **29. ACCOUNTS**

- 29.1 Accounts shall be prepared in accordance with the Act.

## **30. SEAL**

- 30.1 Any common seal may only be used by the authority of the directors.

- 30.2 The directors may decide by what means and in what form any common seal is to be used.
- 30.3 Unless otherwise decided by the directors, if the Company has a common seal and it is affixed to a document, the document must also be signed by at least one other director.

## **APPENDIX A**

### **PROCEDURE GOVERNING THE ELECTION AND RETIREMENT OF DIRECTORS**

- 1) The Board shall initially be constituted on a voluntary basis by representatives of Members, which for the avoidance of doubt includes Local Authority directors but not Voluntary Members who have no right to be appointed as directors.
- 2) At the annual general meeting, one third of the directors (excluding the Local Authority director who shall be exempt from the retirement by rotation provisions within the Articles) shall retire but will be eligible for reappointment without requirement for nomination.
- 3) Those directors to retire by rotation shall be decided according to the longest serving directors retiring first. If the number by length of service due for retirement, exceeds the equivalent of a third of the Board (excluding the Local Authority director) then shall be determined by the directors or on an alphabetical basis, with those surnames beginning at the start of the alphabet retiring first.
- 4) If a director is required to retire at an annual general meeting by a provision of these articles the retirement shall take effect upon the conclusion of the meeting.
- 5) Letters will be sent out to all Members in advance of the AGM telling them which directors are being retired and whether those individuals are willing to re-stand. The letter will also ask Members whether they wish to nominate anyone to stand against the incumbent (if the incumbent is offering themselves again for election) or to take up the vacant post (if the incumbent is withdrawing) or to take up any other vacant post.
- 6) Any person being nominated by a Member for the post of director (excluding the Local Authority Director) must represent a BID Levy Payer but not a Voluntary Member. If the nominee has been nominated by a third party then the nominee must sign a letter indicating their willingness to act at the time their name is put forward for nomination. The Board may also nominate an individual if it believes that person has a special interest in the BID area and has experience and qualification which the Board considers to be of benefit to the Board and/or Subcommittees to be an 'Independent Director'. The Company will verify all nominations received to ensure that they are validly made by a Member eligible to nominate.
- 7) There will be a closing date for receipt of all nominations.

- 8) When all nominations are received, the Company will prepare ballot papers setting out the categories of director posts to be filled and the list of candidate names against these categories.
- 9) Members will be sent notice of the date and venue for the election of directors at the AGM. A person who becomes a member after the dispatch of the ballot papers will not be entitled to vote on the director appointments for that AGM.
- 10) All correspondence may be sent either by post or electronic means.
- 11) AGM's may take place either virtually or in person or as a hybrid of both means of communication throughout the proceedings of the meeting.
- 12) The Board may, in its sole discretion, determine that the proposed election of a director is conducted by way of secret ballot.
- 13) The appointment of a director, whether by the Company in general meeting or by the other directors, must not cause the number of directors to exceed any number fixed as the maximum number of directors (if any such number is so fixed).